FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/24/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97480-2

1. . .

Washington State Supreme Court

Ĩ.

| | | | 2019 | STA |
|-----------------------------|---|---------------------|------|------------|
| In re the Estate of |) | | 2 | THE STREET |
| Constance Elaine Little |) | Petition for Review | | 99 m |
| Roxanne Trees, Respondent |) | | 61 | S R |
| |) | Case no. | -8 | Sm |
| v. |) | | 25 | |
| |) | Title Page | ŝ | 618 |
| Renae Robertson, Petitioner |) | | 80 | N N |
| | | | | |

Review of Court of Appeals, Division One, Case no. 78082-4-1 of King County Superior Court No. 13-4-01099-0SEA

by

Petitioner

Renae Roberson P. O. Box 222 Milton, WA 98354

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1

The court erred by admitting the "gift list" as part of the Final Distribution of the estate, four years after the Will was admitted to probate.

Issues pertaining to assignment of error no. 1

1. Did the court err by admitting the "gift list" as part of the distribution of the estate four years after the Will was admitted to probate?

Assignment of Error No. 2

The court erred by ruling the "Gift List" qualified as a writing that can be incorporated under RCW 11.12.260?

Issues pertaining to assignment of error no. 2

1. Does the "Gift List" qualify as a writing that can be incorporated under RCW 11.12.260?

Assignment of Error No. 3

The court erred by ruling the gift list writing, dated September 16, 2011, meets the requirements for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255

Issues pertaining to assignment of error no. 3

1. Does the gift list writing, dated September 16, 2011, meet the requirements for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

There has never been a case in Washington, perhaps in our nation, where a Will expressly referencing a gift list statute, such as RCW 11.12.260, also qualified for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255. Testamentary instruments can only incorporate nontestamentary instruments according to case law, due to attestation requirements and concerns of fraud. Therefore, it is a novel proposition and a novel holding by the Court of Appeals. But that is just the beginning the deprivation in this case. It is also a novel proposition that a beneficiary under the Will would not have the statutory right to contest the Will with documents incorporated thereunder which substantially reduces the inheritance of the beneficiary when the documents express the intent to be part of the Will. The United States Constitution protects against such property deprivations imposed without Due Process of Law under the Fourteenth Amendment.

There is case law regarding incorporation by reference. The case law holds the document referenced and incorporated must be nontestamentary and becomes part of the Will and is probated with the Will. Again, another novel departure from the law in Washington and around the country. The Appellate court appears to have embraced the novel view that RCW 11.12.255 can be used to dispense with the restrictions under RCW 11.12.260 within the same document, rendering the restrictions superfluous. So the gift list that expressly restricts monetary gifts under RCW 11.12.260, seemlessly allows them under RCW 11.12.255, all on a single page, and shackles the inheritance rights of heirs and beneficiaries of the estate with no filing or notice required within the four month period of proving the Will

3Renae Roberson P. O. Box 222 Milton, WA 98354

F

and contesting its provisions. That is more than a novel ruling. That is a U.S. Constitutional violation of Due Process of Law on many levels.

Keep in mind, the Will only expressly references RCW 11.12.260. RCW 11.12.255 states if there is any inconsistency between the (incorporated writing) and the will, the will controls, so the inconsistent reduction scheme that appears in the separate writing is void due to being inconsistent with the terms of the Will.

I was given the separate gift list two years after the Will was admitted to probate. The estate contest statutes for challenging the Will can only be utilized during the early four month probate period. Since I was not given that opportunity, the late admission of the gift list deprived me of my Due Process rights secured under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The personal representative states, Renae got it, albeit, two years late. For reasons stated, its late admission violates due process of law in deprivation of my civil rights.

I contested the proposed distribution of the Estate of my mother, Constance Elaine Little, scheduled for December 28, 2017, based on the following reasons. The separate writing sought to be incorporated by reference, effecting the disposition of the will, does not satisfy the elements of RCW 11.12.255 and RCW 11.12.260, inter alia. Under RCW 2.24.050 and controlling Supreme Court authority, the court must review the

4Renae Roberson P. O. Box 222 Milton, WA 98354

commissioner's decision de novo based on the record. State v. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d 106, 113, 86 P.3d 132 (2004) The Will of my mother, dated July 20, 2011, was admitted to probate on February 15, 2013. Mom executed another will on August 4, 2011, but subsequently revoked it on September 16, 2011, and reinstated her prior Will the same day on July 20, 2011. My mom's Will provides "it is my intent to prepare a gift list separate from this Will for the purpose of the disposition of my tangible personal property, mementos, and family heirlooms pursuant to RCW 11.12.260. My mom signed a document entitled "Gift List" on July 20, 2011 and again on September 16, 2011, presumably, because the gift list dated July 20, 2011, was revoked. The two gift lists are identical with the exception of the dates of execution. A copy of the gift list was filed as Exhibit B and C of the personal representative's motion. CP 38-89 RCW 11.12.260 allows for the incorporation of a separate writing for tangible personal property only. RCW 11.12.255 allows incorporation of specifically incorporated written instruments into the Will for the probating thereof, provided they are sufficiently described and an intent to incorporate them by the testator is manifest in the Will. Both are subject to the probating of the Will, they are not a means to avoid probate (as presumed by the personal representative) or the notice requirements of probate to the heirs, legatees, and devisees of the Will, since they are incorporated by reference in the Will, thereby

requiring both writings to be filed with the Will. The gift list referenced under RCW 11.12.260 was never filed with the probate of the Will. There is no writing referenced under RCW 11.12.255 in the Will. The Personal Representative's attorneys contend the writing specified in the Will (which cites RCW 11.12.260 for the disposition of tangible personal property) qualifies as a writing under RCW 11.12.255, without referencing the statute, much less satisfying its distinct elements of sufficient description to permit its incorporation.

First, I contended at the hearing on December 28, 2017, the gift list is now entirely unenforceable, since it was neither filed with the court, nor admitted to probate as part of the Will, so it was not proved by the court as part of the Will, or given to the heirs, legatees, and devisees, to apprise them of their interest in the estate and to contest its provisions, which is the purpose of notice of the appointment of the personal representative and admission of the Will to Probate under RCW 11.28.237. Second, I contended the gift list writing dated September 16, 2011, is not, for the most part, a gift list qualifying as a separate writing under RCW 11.12.260. Third, I contend the gift list writing dated September 16, 2011, does not qualify for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255. On December 28, 2017, Commission Pro Tem Brad Moore entered the gift list as a valid writing as proposed by the personal representative. On January

26, 2018, I presented my motion for revision to the Chief Civil Department for denovo review. The Honorable Lori K. Smith heard the motion for revision and upheld the Commissioner's Ruling.

ARGUMENT

2

Assignment of Error No. 1

The court erred by admitting the "gift list" as part of the Will four years after the Will was admitted to probate.

Issues pertaining to assignment of error no. 1

1. Did the court err by admitting the "gift list" as part of the distribution of the estate four years after the Will was admitted to probate?

The appellate court reviews issues of law denovo. My appeal is based primarily on the interpretation of RCW 11.12.255 and RCW 11.12.260, so these are issues of law which the court should decide by denovo review. I'm also arguing that the violation of these statutes as applied is a violation of my Fourteenth Amendment right to Due Process of Law under the U.S. Constitution.

I contend the interpretation of the statutory scheme by the appellate court violates the rules of construction, including expressio unius est exclusio alterius and ejusdem generis.

When statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for judicial interpretation. The law is the law. *State v. Gettman*, 56

Wn. App. 51, 54, 782 P.2d 216 (1989). No where in RCW 11.12.255 is the mention of gifts or the disposition of gifts, therefore, the language cannot be added by the court or the personal representative. Under principles of statutory construction, a statute is not subject to judicial interpretation where its language is plain, unambiguous, and well understood according to its natural and ordinary sense and meaning. *State v. Lewis*, 86 Wn. App. 716, 717-18, 937 P.2d 1325 (1997) RCW 11.12.255 merely allows for incorporation of separate writings sufficiently described in the Will, it does not direct the disposition of gifts from the decedent's Will, and additional language would have to be added to do so.

When the language of a rule is clear, a court cannot construe it contrary to its plain statement." *State v. Raper*, 47 Wn. App. 530, 536, 736 P.2d 680, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1023 (1987) In determining the meaning and scope of a statute, the court applies the general principles of statutory construction. Those principles provide that in interpreting a statute, the fundamental duty of the court is to ascertain and carry out the intent of the Legislature, not to presume the statute means what it does not say. *State v. Alvarez*, 128 Wn.2d 1, 11, 904 P.2d 754 (1995).

Contrary to the statute, Roxanne and the trial ruled the gifts not permitted under RCW 11.12.260 could be gifted under RCW 11.12.255, even though there is no gift provision language in the statute, and the Will

itself only references RCW 11.12.260. Therefore, the ruling of the trial court and as affirmed by the appellate court violates the rules of construction.

Here, RCW 11.12.255 and RCW 11.12.260 were both new sections enacted contemporaneously and collocated in the laws of Washington State in 1984, on pp. 653 and 654. The statutes were also codified consecutively in the Revised Code of Washington. Laws of Washington State, 1984 c 149 §§ 6 and 7. Due to the contemporaneous enactment and collocation, the statutes must be interpreted together to ascertain the legislative intent. Otherwise, RCW 11.12.255 could be construed as a default statute in connection with RCW 11.12.260, and literally nullify all the gift restrictions and limitations under RCW 11.12.260, which is basically what Roxanne argues and the ruling of the trial court suggests.

Here, Constance's will only references a writing under RCW 11.12.260, so RCW 11.12.255 does not apply to the disposition of her property at all.

The canon of expressio unius est exclusio alterius prohibits the implication of other things in the statutory scheme when certain things are expressed. The testator's intent cannot be enforced to violate the law or to supply an element to the statute the legislature has chosen to omit. It is not appropriate to resupply judicially an element which the Legislature has

9Renae Roberson P. O. Box 222 Milton, WA 98354

÷

chosen to omit. *see also State v. Bailey*, 41 Wn. App. 724, 706 P.2d 229 (1985); *State v. Sainz*, 23 Wn. App. 532, 540, 596 P.2d 1090 (1979). In other words, a testator cannot leave by a separate writing that which the law expressly prohibits, such as gifts of currency and normal legal tender, and expect the court to modify RCW 11.12.260 accordingly. Roxanne argues that which is expressly prohibited under RCW 11.12.260 is allowed under RCW 11.12.255, because there is no limitation under RCW 11.12.255.

The trial court's analysis referenced a gift list in the will but seemingly disregarded the plain language of the Will, and all of the above rules of construction. The Will states "I do hereby state that it is my intent to prepare a gift list separate from this Will for the purpose of disposition of tangible personal property, mementos and family heirlooms pursuant to RCW 11.12.260." CP 14 -17, 18 -25. There is no mention of any other separate writing in the Will, so none can be inferred under ejusdem generis, which applies for the interpretation of Wills as well as statutes.

Therefore, the court erred as a matter of law and fact, regarding incorporation of a separate writing in the testator's Will under RCW 11.12.255.

RCW 11.24.010 provides "If no person files and serves a petition with the time (four months) under this section, the probate or rejection of

÷

such will shall be binding and final." Since the separate writing was not admitted to probate (and was supposed to accompany the Will by its own terms evidencing the testatrix's intent) and was not given to me (Renae) when the Will was admitted to probate, I did not have fifteen days as expressed in the separate writing, so the entire reduction clause fails for lack of notice. The separate gift list admission after the four month period under the manifest terms of my mother's Will, deprives me of my right to due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

Therefore, I contend its the late admission deprives me of my civil rights.

Assignment of Error No. 2

The court erred by ruling the "Gift List" qualified as a writing that can be incorporated under RCW 11.12.260?

Issues pertaining to assignment of error no. 2

1. Does the "Gift List" qualify as a writing that can be incorporated under RCW 11.12.260?

As part of the Will, the separate writing under RCW 11.12.260 is confined to the limitations imposed by the statute. The only separate writing gifts qualifying under RCW 11.12.260 are the last four provisions on the list, including the tangible personal property gifts.. The "identified historical" items are not identified and cannot be found within the estate.

The cash gifts are excluded from the meaning of tangible personal property under RCW 11.12.260(4), which provides "The term does not include mobile homes or intangible property, for example, money that is normal currency or normal legal tender, evidences of indebtedness, bank accounts or other monetary deposits, documents of title, or securities." The gift list contains cash gifts of ten thousand dollars each to Ryan Trees and Stacey Fataua. These gifts are expressly prohibited under RCW 11.12.260(4) The fact that monetary gifts appear on this list supports a suspicion that this list was not prepared by my Mom's lawyer, but Roxanne herself. It's doubtful mom's attorney had any knowledge of the gift list, since if he did, he could have included similar provisions in her Will, which was executed the same day as the gift. Neither do the charitable cash gifts qualify under RCW 11.12.260. A separate writing cannot include gifts that are not allowed under the statute. Since these gifts do not qualify under RCW 11.12.260, they cannot be incorporated by a separate writing and disposed of under the probating of the Will. Since the gift list was never offered for admission to probate, it cannot be used to calculate the Will upon disposition of the estate assets. The separate writing is entitled a "Gift List" but the substance of the separate writing contains provisions which do not meet the requirements for a separate writing under RCW 11.12.260, such as cash gifts, and a complex inheritance reduction scheme that is inconsistent

12Renae Roberson P. O. Box 222 Milton, WA 98354

.

with the Will, causing it to fail for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255.

Therefore, these monetary gifts and the reduction scheme are all void as a matter of law.

Assignment of Error No. 3

The court erred by ruling the gift list writing, dated September 16, 2011, meets the requirements for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255

Issues pertaining to assignment of error no. 3

1. Does the gift list writing, dated September 16, 2011, meet the requirements for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255?

The Personal Representative contended the cash gifts as well as the allegations of "takings" against me, Renae Roberson, are enforceable under RCW 11.12.255. Is that true? I contended, it is not.

RCW 11.12.255 provides "A will may incorporate by reference any writing in existence when the will is executed if the will itself manifests the testator's intent to incorporate the writing and describes the writing sufficiently to permit its identification. In the case of any inconsistency between the writing and the will, the will controls."

On revision, the court ruled that RCW 11.12.255 is the controlling statute. VRP 23 at 14-16. If that is the case, RCW 11.12.255 would

necessarily have to be referenced in the Will or in the separate writing, but it is not. The Will and the separate writing both expressly reference RCW 11.12.260, so the appellate court ruled that which does not appear is clear.

Essentially, the court ruled the separate writing qualifies for incorporation because it is entitled a gift list, without giving credence to the substance of the writing or the the fact that the statute referred to in the Will is RCW 11.12.260 and is also referred to in the separate writing. This is an application of incorporation by reference that is not present in common law or in the statute. The court did not reach the issue of inconsistencies between the Will and separate writing, which under RCW 11.12.255, the terms of the writing controls, thereby rendering the separate writing inconsistencies unenforceable.

The Will must identify the writing sufficiently to permit its identification and manifest the testator's intent to incorporate it. I argued in my response that the writing is not sufficiently described in the Will to permit its incorporation as required under RCW 11.12.255 because the only writing described in the Will is identified under RCW 11.12.260. Plus, the separate writing cites RCW 11.12.260. CP 38-89, Exhibits B and C. RCW 11.12.255 is neither referenced in the Will or in the separate writing, so the elements of sufficient description to permit incorporation are not satisfied. This rule of law was in operation under common law, even before RCW

11.12.255 was enacted by Washington state in 1984. The case below ruled

on incorporation by reference.

In re Baarslag v. Hawkins, 12 Wn. App. 756 (1975), the court said,

"As a matter of law, the identification of a document incorporated by reference in a will must be found in the will itself. In this connection, it is stated in 2 W. Page, Wills § 19.23 (3d ed. 1960), at pages 96-97:

In order to operate as an incorporation, the will must refer to the instrument to be incorporated and must describe it with sufficient certainty that it may be identified and distinguished from other similar documents. These requirements are intended to protect against fraud, substitution and tampering....

...The document sought to be incorporated in the will by reference must be so described in the will that this description, together with evidence of the identity and genuineness of the document, will be sufficient to show that it is the document referred to in the will. The description in the will must be in language which is so clear and unambiguous that the identity of the documents is readily established. If the will is drawn in such vague or inaccurate terms that the document produced can be identified with that entioned in the will only by extrinsic evidence outside of the will or contradicting its description, such document cannot be taken as a part of the will, since such a will would be in part oral, and hence in violation of the statute of wills."

The court emphasized as RCW 11.12.255 does now, the separate

writing must be sufficiently described to permit incorporation. As stated,

the Will and the separate writing reference RCW 11.12.260, not RCW

11.12.255, so the court erred by ruling the separate writing was sufficiently

described, since the Will and the separate writing each reference RCW

11.12.260. There's no other document described in the Will, so not only is

there doubt as to any other document described, the absence of another

document, triggers the canon of expressio unius est exclusio alterius: the mention of a thing or class of things bars implication of other things not expressed, thereby barring any argument that the testatrix intended any other writing.

The Appellate Court concluded the will clearly and unambiguously identifies and incorporates by reference the Gift List that directs distribution of the Estate, but adds monetary gifts which do not appear in the Will, thereby attempting to modify the express terms of the Will. No. 78082-4-1/14. The appellate court cites RCW 11.12.260, including its provisions and restrictions, then concludes it meets the requirements of RCW 11.12.255, absent any basis for its conclusion, thereby rendering its ruling as untenable. No. 78082-4-1/15 The ruling of the Appellate Court has no basis in law or fact.

The doctrine of incorporation_by reference cannot be applied without some showing that the testator intended to incorporate the nontestamentary document into his will. *In re McCurdy's Estate*, 197 Cal.276, 285, 240 P. 498 (1925); see, 1 Page on Wills, § 263; Atkinson on Wills, p. 336. Granted *McCurdy's Estate* is a California case, but its incorporation by reference statute, Cal. Pro. Code § 6130, is nearly identical to the Washington statute, reading, "Incorporation by reference. A writing in existence when a will is executed may be incorporated by

reference if the language of the will manifests this intent and describes the writing sufficiently to permit its identification." Consequently, it is persuasive authority. In carrying out the general intention of the testator and the policy of the law against intestacy some courts interpret a reference to nontestamentary documents as indicative of an intention to incorporate by reference certain otherwise inoperative nontestamentary instruments into the testator's will. Arrington v. Brown, 235 Ala. 196,178 So. 218, 220 (1938); Estate of Dimmitt, 141 Neb. 413, 425, 3 N.W.2d 752 (1942) For instance, where a testator might hold a mortgage and directs that ongoing payments be administered in a certain manner after his death. The Appellate Court ruling allows a second testamentary instrument to be implied under RCW 11.12.255 and to be incorporated into a Will, which is, which is not described in the Will The courts have held where a document is incorporated by reference it becomes part of the Will and is probated with the Will. To incorporate a writing in testamentary instrument, a writing that is a complete testamentary instrument in itself must refer to the other writing in such manner as to incorporate it. Estate of McCarty, 211 Cal. App. 2nd 23, 27 Cal.Rptr. 94 (1962) The Doctrine of incorporation in a will by reference cannot be applied without some showing that testator intended to incorporate a nontestamentary document into his will. Wells Fargo Bank & Union Trust Co. v. Superior Court of Marin County, 32

Cal.2d 1, 193 P.2d 721 (1948) Here, the separate writing is testamentary in nature, since it only is operative upon the death of the testatrix in the probate administration. Consequently, the nontestamentary element is not satisfied and cannot be incorporated under *Wells Fargo Bank., id*

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