FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/16/2019 11:26 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97480-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the:

ESTATE OF CONSTANCE LITTLE,

ROXANNE TREES,

Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Constance Little,

Respondent,

v.

RENAE ROBERSON,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

MOEN LAW OFFICES, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 By: Bruce R. Moen WSBA No. 6640 Sarah L. Moen WSBA No. 30900

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974 1325 4th Avenue, Suite 1025 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 441-1156

Attorneys for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals adhered to the plain language of RCW 11.12.255 in holding that a will may incorporate a separate writing by reference.

The Court of Appeals' holding that RCW 11.12.255 authorizes a testatrix to incorporate a separate writing by reference in her will comports with the plain language of the statute, conflicts with no case law and presents no issue of constitutional magnitude or substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). The Court of Appeals properly treated this as a straightforward case of statutory construction based on unambiguous statutory language:

A will may incorporate by reference any writing in existence when the will is executed if the will itself manifests the testator's intent to incorporate the writing and describes the writing sufficiently to permit its identification. In the case of any inconsistency between the writing and the will, the will controls.

RCW 11.12.255.

The statute requires that the separate writing must (1) have been "in existence when the will is executed," (2) the will itself must "manifest[] the testator's intent to incorporate the writing" and (3) the will must "describe[] the writing sufficiently to permit its identification." RCW 11.12.255. Finally, the separate writing must not be inconsistent with the terms of the will, or the "will controls." RCW 11.12.255. The Court of Appeals properly held that the gift list meets these requirements because it "is a writing that the will incorporates by reference" under the "plain and unambiguous language of RCW 11.12.255." (Op 11-12) Its decision furthers Ms. Little's testamentary intent. Roberson would instead undermine that intent.

Roberson does not now contest that the gift list existed when Ms. Little "executed the will on July 20, 2011 and reinstated the will on September 16, 2011." (Op. 12) She has thus abandoned her argument below that the list did not exist when Ms. Little executed her last will and testament. (App. Br. 18-19) *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn. 2d 158, 176, n.5, 876 P.2d 435 (1994) ("Plaintiff has not argued this issue in his Amended Petition for Review, and we deem it abandoned.")

Roberson disregards the "fundamental maxim" in construing a will, which requires the Court to "go to the utmost possible length to carry into effect the testator's wishes" and may not, "by technical rules of statutory or other legal construction[,].... defeat the will of the testator, unless such construction be absolutely required." *Estate of Elliot*, 22 Wn.2d 334, 350-51, 156 P.2d 427 (1945) (internal quotation omitted), a principle the Court of Appeals properly acknowledged. (Op. 11, citing *Estate of Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d 431, 435, 693 P.2d 703 (1985); *Estate of Price*, 73 Wn. App. 745, 754, 871 P.2d 1079 (1994)). The will manifests Ms. Little's clear intent to incorporate the gift list by reference. The Court of Appeals properly held that the court must determine that intent from the "language of the will as a whole" and in the "context of the entire will." (Op. 11, citing *Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d at 435; *Estate of Riemcke*, 80 Wn.2d 722, 728, 497 P.2d 1319 (1972); and *Estate of Mell*, 105 Wn.2d 518, 524, 726 P.2d 836 (1986).

Roberson improperly parses a portion of the will by quoting solely Ms. Little's statement in the SECOND Article, that "it is my intent to prepare a gift list separate from this Will for the purpose of disposition of tangible person property . . . pursuant to RCW 11.12.260." (CP 14) But in the very next THIRD Article, Ms. Little again refers to the gift list as governing her specific bequests, specifically stating, "[e]xcept as provided in the list described in Paragraph SECOND above . . . I make the following specific

bequests." (CP 14, emphasis added) Roberson's contention that "there is no mention of any other separate writing in the Will" except for in the SECOND Article (Pet. 10) is patently erroneous.

Ms. Little's July will both "manifests the testator's intent to incorporate the writing" and specifically "describes the writing sufficiently to merit its identification" within the meaning of RCW 11.12 255. See Woodard v. Gramlow, 123 Wn. App. 522, 527, 95 P.3d 1244 (2004) (testator must "describe or identify the documents intended to be incorporated, or render them capable of identification by extrinsic evidence, so that no room for doubt can exist as to what papers were meant" to be incorporated. (internal quotation omitted)), rev. denied, 153 Wn.2d 1029 (2005); Baarslag v. Hawkins, 12 Wn. App. 756, 763, 531 P.2d 1283 (1975) (will must describe separate documents "with sufficient certainty that it may be identified and distinguished from other similar documents."), rev. denied, 86 Wn.2d 1008 (1976). The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with these cases. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Roberson's contrary argument, that because "RCW 11.12.255 is neither referenced in the Will or in the separate writing, . . . the elements of sufficient description to permit incorporation are not satisfied" (Pet. 14), is particularly misplaced. RCW 11.12.255

requires identification of "the writing," not citation to the statute that authorizes incorporation of the writing.

Roberson's argument that "Constance's will only references a writing under RCW 11.12.260, so RCW 11.12.255 does not apply" (Pet. 9) manifestly defeats Constance Little's clear intent. That Ms. Little referenced RCW 11.12.260¹ in the SECOND Article of her will, where she directed the gift list to govern the disposition of specific items of tangible personal property, is in no way inconsistent with her intent, expressed in the THIRD Article, to incorporate by reference the gift list's separate provisions reducing Roberson's share of the Estate to account for the personal property that "Roberson has already received or taken," taken "without complete permission by me" and funds "acquired . . . from me for her own purposes over time." (CP 86)

Nothing in chapter RCW ch. 11.12 or the remainder of probate code prohibits a testator by separate writing to both dispose of

¹ Under RCW 11.12.260, a will "may refer to a writing that directs disposition of tangible personal property not otherwise specifically disposed of by the will" if (1) the unrevoked will refers to the writing, (2) the writing is either signed by the testator or in the testator's handwriting, and (3) the writing describes the items and recipients of the property with "reasonable certainty." RCW 11.12.260(1). The separate writing "may be written or signed before or after the execution of the will," RCW 11.12.260(2), and the testator "may make subsequent handwritten or signed changes to any writing." RCW 11.12.260(3).

tangible personal property under RCW 11.12.260, and to allow the disposition of non-tangible assets of the estate, provided the document also satisfies the requirements for incorporation by reference under RCW 11.12.255. Contrary to Roberson's argument that the courts below held that "gifts not permitted under RCW 11.12.260 could be gifted under RW 11.12.255" (Pet. 8), there is no conflict between the two statutes because they address separate matters, operating independently to fulfill testamentary intent. See Tollycraft Yachts Corp. v. McCoy, 122 Wn.2d 426, 437, 858 P.2d 503, 509 (1993) ("different sections of a statute [should] be read harmoniously rather than in conflict"). The Court of Appeals properly interpreted "the statutory scheme as a whole," rather than in isolation, as Roberson does. See Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA, 188 Wn.2d 421, 432, ¶ 28, 395 P.3d 1031 (2017) (Op. 11).

As the trial court found, the gift list "was specifically mentioned, not just in the Will, but even when the Will was redone three months later it was re-dated and mentioned again." (RP 36) And, as the Court of Appeals held, "[t]he will explicitly directs the executor to implement the directions in the gift list before distributing the remainder of Little's Estate." (Op. 16)

The Court of Appeals followed established law, interpreting RCW 11.12.255 according to its plain and unambiguous language and fulfilling Constance Little's manifest testamentary intent to incorporate by reference a document governing the disposition of her estate. This Court should deny review.

B. The lower courts' application of RCW 11.12.255 did not deprive Roberson of due process because she had notice and an opportunity to challenge the gift list.

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Roberson's contention her due process rights were somehow violated by the lower courts' decisions effecting Ms. Little's plain intent to incorporate the gift list into her last will and testament by reference or by the personal representative's failure to admit into probate the separate writing along with the will. The "fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." *Aiken v. Aiken*, 187 Wn.2d 491, 501, ¶ 19, 387 P.3d 680 (2017) (quoting *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976)) (Op. 17). Roberson exercised her due process right to be heard after notice before the commissioner, on revision, and in the Court of Appeals.

Roberson had notice of the contents of the gift list two years before she brought her challenge to the final decree. The Court of Appeals properly held that "Washington law does not require the personal representative to file a separate writing when the will is admitted to probate." (Op. 16) RCW 11.28.237 does not require the personal representative to include a copy of the will with the notice of the "pendency of said probate," although it is "often an effective practice to provide the heirs with copies of the initial probate documents approved by the court, at the time notice is provided of appointment of the personal representative." Cheryl C. Mitchell, 26B Wash. Prac., Probate Law and Practice § 16:2 (2017). Trees filed the July will and gave the requisite notice of her appointment and the pending probate to Roberson in February 2013. (CP 1-36),

A writing incorporated by reference "is not a physical part of the will and need not be offered for probate nor be made part of the public record." Restatement (Third) of Property (Wills & Don. Trans.) § 3.6 cmt. h (1999). As the trial court recognized, if documents incorporated by reference were required to be admitted to probate, RCW 11.12.255 would be unnecessary: "It would be part of the Will and attached. The reason that [RCW 11.12.255] exists is so that something that is not attached to the Will can be clearly identified as being that document that's incorporated." (RP 37)

Roberson's contention that she had no notice or opportunity to challenge the gift list or to return the money and property taken from her mother before her share of the estate was reduced is also without merit. Roberson received a copy of the gift list when the personal representative filed the writing in August 2015 – more than two years before the estate closed. (CP 193, 231-34, 278; RP 30) When initially appearing in probate court she did not raise her current allegation that the document was not prepared by her mother (Pet. 12), but complained only that the values of items identified in the gift list lacked "substantiation of information." (CP 267) Two years later, when arguing that the document was unenforceable, Roberson conceded that the gift list "is in my mother's writing" and that "[m]y mom signed a document entitled 'Gift List.'" (RP 30; CP 106)

Roberson appeared at two hearings contesting the gift list, where the trial court afforded her the right to be heard before the probate court approved the personal representative's decree of distribution. (RP 6-11, 13, 29-36) The trial court found "no evidence of undue influence or wrongdoing" in the creation of the gift list and that, although "Ms. Roberson did not receive the gift list initially, she

has had it, or access to it, for a few years and had an opportunity to address the issues in the gift list." (CP 173)

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Roberson's due process arguments based on substantial evidence and established law. Its decision presents no basis for this Court's review.

C. The Court should award the personal representative her fees in responding to the petition, and on appeal in the unlikely event the Court accepts review.

The Court of Appeals declined respondent's request for fees on appeal under RW 11.96A.150(1). (Op. 18) This Court may "in its discretion" require "any party" to pay reasonable fees incurred in an action under RCW ch. 11.96A. RCW 11.96A.150. Roberson has persisted in contesting the personal representative's actions to fulfill Ms. Little's testamentary intent, taken pursuant to the plain language of RCW 11.12.255, before the commissioner, on revision and in two appellate courts. The Court should exercise its discretion to award Trees her fees in this Court. In the event this Court grants review it should also review the Court of Appeals denial of attorney fees and order Roberson to pay all of Trees' fees in defending the trial court's decision on appeal.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny review and award fees to respondent.

day of September, 2019.

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

MOEN LAW OFFICES, P.S.